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2004 Annual General Meeting 

Agenda

 

1.    Sign-in and S ocializing (2 :00 p.m. - 2:3 0 p.m.)

2.    Call to ord er (2:30 p .m.)

3.  Welcoming remarks, introduction of the Board  (Dr. Henry Harder, 2003 B oard Chair)

4.   Approval of Agenda

5.   Minutes of the 2003 Information Meeting

5.1 Errors/Omissions

5.2 Adoption

5.3 Business arising from the Minutes

6.        Annual Re ports

6.1 Chair of the 2003 Board, Dr. Henry Harder

6.2 Reports of Standing Committees

6.21 Inquiry Committee (Ms. Barbara Passmore, 2003 C hair)

6.22 Patient Relations Committee (Mr. Robert Colby, 2003 Chair)

6.23 Quality Assurance Committee (presented by Dr. Michael Joschko, 2004 Chair)

6.24 Registration Committee (Dr. Michael Elterman, 2003 Chair) 

6.25 Finance Committee (Dr. Derek Swain, 2003 Chair)

7. New Business

7.1 Adjournment
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Report from the Chair

I welcome  this oppor tunity to review the 2003 year and the challenges faced and achievements realized for the Board

of the College during the year. During  2003  the systems and procedures put in place since the College became regulated

under the Health Professions Act were consolidated and validated. T hese systems a nd proc edures pr ovided a  solid

foundation from which the  College wa s able to manage  divergent an d challenging  issues. This is  a major achievement

and one which gives the Board great pleasure and comfort, given the need to develop and imple ment majo r changes in

every aspe ct of College  functioning in a v ery short per iod of time. 

Among the major issues facing the Board during the 2003 year were the following:

Regulation o f Master's Level Practitioners

Changes to the bylaws provided an opportunity for some master's level psychology practitioners to become registered

with the College. Consequently the Board  supporte d the continu ation of a num ber of initiatives, inc luding mee tings with

the BC Association of School Psychologists, the Canadian Counseling Association (national and BC representatives),

psychology personnel from Corrections Canada, as well as the BC Association of Clinical Counselors. Over 100

individuals  from these various groups took advantage of the extraordinary period of application the College extended

to these maste r's level practitione rs from Janu ary 1 to M ay 1, 200 3. 

The Registration Committee devoted considerable time to developing policies to cover the applications received during

the extraordinary period.  Four information sessions for these applicants were held in November.  A special oral

examination is being developed for these candidates.  The committee is continuing to discuss how applicants in the

extraordinary period will re main acco untable to the  College o nce they are p laced on th e Limited Register to meet

remaining registration criteria.

Removal of Exemptions

Meetings were held during the year with Mr. Alan Moyes, Executive Director of the Office of Professional Regulation,

along with representatives from the Ministry of Education, to discuss the regulation of school psychology practitioners.

All participants in these discussions were appreciative of the flexibility and openness of the Board to the consideration

of ways to regulate psychology professionals under the systems in place at the College.  In particular, the Limited

Register and the ab ility to place limitations on practice in terms of both settings and activities, opens a variety of options

for the regulation of psychology practitioners.  Th ese discussions were held in light of the recommendation of the former

Health  Professions Council to remove the exemptions from the Psychologists’ Regulation under the Health Professions

Act.

This  series of discussions produced some excitement and brought to light the high degree of misinformation among some

stakeholders.  We pu t considera ble effort into ensuring that accurate information was accessible and easily available.

For exam ple, the Reg istrar prepa red a basic  “fact sheet” and  FAQ’s o n the website. 

Implementation of the Mutual Recognition Agreement

The Registrar and Registration Committee put tremendous efforts into drafting amendments to the bylaws to ensure

consistency with the Mutual Recognition Agreement signed by all Canadian psychology regulatory bodies.  The bylaw

changes we re submitted  to governm ent in Nov ember 2 003. 

Amend ments to the bylaws were also submitted to government for approval to allow for recognition of status on the

National Register of Health Service Providers in Psychology as a mobility mechanism.
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Regulation of Title and Practice of Psychology

The Board  decided  to pursue a m atter of a form er registrant who  continued  to adverti se himself as a psyc hologist, in

explicit contravention of the Psychologists Regulation under the Health Professions Act.

Renewal Process

The Board was pleased with the response to the clear dead line set for submission of full payment and a completed

renewal form of December 31, 2003.  This year a much smaller number of registrants (n=27) were taken off the register

due to failure to sub mit their fees and  renewal on  time.  Of these, 19 individuals had not intended to renew and the

remaining 8 were quickly reinstated after payment of fees and fines. This compares very favourably to the over 100

registrants taken off the register at the end of 2002 for failure to meet the deadline.

Patient Relations

The Patient Relations Committee prepared a brochure in conformity with the Health Professions Act with two versions,

one for reg istrants and on e for clients. 

Annual Evaluation of Registrar

We conducted a performance evaluation o f the Registrar a ccording  to established  objectives .  All objectives had been

met or exceed ed and the  board is d elighted with  the achievements of the College staff, under the leadership and guidance

of the Registrar. T he following o bjectives ser ve both as the  objectives  for the Colleg e as a whole  in 2004 as well as being

specific  targeted ob jectives for the R egistrar and h er staff in the com ing year. W hile these will serve as a means of

performance evaluation on an annual basis, the objectives are all seen to be ongoing and long term in nature. They are

as follows: 

 

   C to bring the College in line with national and international standards (both substantive and procedural) for

profession al regulation; 

   C to enhance  the profile, stand ing and cred ibility of the Colleg e with govern ment; 

   C to develo p and ma intain an effective sys tem for do cument co ntrol, manag ement, filing and  storage; 

   C to maintain the  efficient and time ly managem ent of comp laints; 

   C to ensure reg ular and effec tive comm unication with re gistrants abou t regulatory issue s affecting them; 

   C to enhance the decision-making competencies of the Inquiry, R egistration, D iscipline and Quality Assurance

Comm ittees; 

   C to maintain the efficient resourcing and staffing of the College; and 

   C to ensure d ata integrity, security, co ntrol and m anageme nt.

Continuing Competency Program

We were pleased that the Quality Assurance Committee’s continuing competency program received such a favourable

response from registrants.  Over 46 registrants took the time to provide constructive feedback.  The Board is supportive

of the plan to implement the program as currently described, with an eye to amending or adjusting the program and

requirements as knowled ge is gained through experien ce with its implementation over the next few years.

Board Elections

Elections were held in November of 2003.  Robert Colby was re-elected and Lee Cohene was elected, both for a three

year term on the Board.



College of Psychologists of British Columbia 2003 Annual Report 8

Public Mem bers

Two new public  membe rs, Margu erite Ford a nd Rana  Dhatt, were  welcome d to the Bo ard.  I cannot say enough to

convey our appreciation to these dedicated and thoughtful individ uals for volun teering their  time to serve the College

as public membe rs.

Submissions to Government

During the past year the College made several major submissions to government. The Registrar, working with legal

counsel,  Anthony Tobin, and Bonita Thomp son, who helped us previously on our bylaws, w rote majo r submission s to

government in response to proposed changes to the Health Professions Act.  See the Re gistrar’s repor t for more sp ecific

information.  The B oard was  pleased w ith the response of government to our submissions , which validate s the Boa rd’s

perception of the clarity, thoroughness and thoughtfulness of the College’s submissions. These submissions are on our

website.

The College also  made a m ajor subm ission in support of the recommendation of the Health Professions Council that

diagnosis  be a reserved action, and that this reserved a ction be av ailable to reg istrants of our C ollege.  This submission

underscores our view that the act of psychological diagnosis and the conduct of psycholo gical assessme nts are facets  of

the same basic  skill set and competencies. Thanks to the Registration Committee members who spent many hours on the

psychological assessment submission.

The College opposed an application for Occupational Title Protection by the B.C. Association of Clinical Counsellors

to protect the title “Registered Clinical Counsellor” under Part 10 of the Society Act as it was thought that its approval

would be contrar y to the public in terest.  Amon g the argume nts advance d was the ac ceptance  by governm ent of

recomm endations m ade in two m ajor repo rts on professional regulation (the Seaton Rep ort and Safe Choice s) against

designating this group as a  health profe ssion in its amen dments  to the HPA and enacted critical amendments to the Health

Professions Act on October 7, 2003. It would clearly be inappropriate to approve use of this title when the Government

has not been p repared  to this date to de signate the health profession and to grant its members an exclusive title under the

Health  Professions Act.  We also raised objection to the term “clinical”.  The term “clinical” implies that the population

being treated is  a clinical population of patients and that there is pathology or abnormality that requires diagnosis and

intervention.  The typical pop ulation of indiv iduals who re quire coun seling are nor mal peop le with normal problems such

that no diagn osis would b e applicab le.  

Such submissions take a tremendous amount of time and add to an already overloaded workload.  It speaks to the caliber

of our staff, committee membe rs and legal co nsultants that we ar e able  to make suc h high quality sub missions while a ll

other respo nsibilities are be ing so ably me t.

Book Chapter

The Registrar was invited to submit a chap ter in a book on the regulation o f psychology in Canada b y David Evans.   The

Board  endorsed  the Registrar w orking on this p roject.

Incorporation

Registration with the College is generic and thus the College cannot approve specialty designations in incorporation

names.  The Board endorsed th e Regis tration Committee’s policy on company names and confirmed that it is not

considered timely for the College to involve itself in the incorporation process.  Therefore,  we will not be seeking a

resolution under the Health Professions Act to regulate corporations at this time.
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Motor Vehicle Act

The College has been participating in discussions with the Superintendent of Motor Vehicles along with the Colleges

of Optom etrists and Physic ians and Su rgeons.  Patricia McFarland, R.Psych., has been participating in the meetings on

behalf  of the Colleg e, along with the  Registrar, and  has assisted with d rafting an upc oming practice advisory for

registrants. Many thanks to Dr. McFarland for her involvement and expertise.

Proposal from  Marriage and Family Th erapists

A proposal to form a C ollege of P sychologists an d Marr iage and F amily Ther apists, outlined  in the April  10, 2003 letter

from the B.C. Association of Marriage and Family Therapists was discussed and declined.

Annual General Meetings

The lack of a quo rum at last year’s A nnual Gen eral Me eting turned the  meeting into an “information meeting” and

prompted discussion around the Board table about the purpose and objectives of an annual general meeting.  Since

coming under the Health Professions Act, the registrants no longer approve a budget.  The main purpose of the meeting

is for the Bo ard to  present information to the registrants about the conduct of College business over the last year, and

to be accou ntable for de cisions made.  It was decide d to circulate  a letter to registran ts asking for op inion on ho w to

manage this issue for the 2003 year with the choices being 1) to hold another AGM  or 2) to  consider the last meeting

an information m eeting and n ot to resched ule another meeting.  Very few registrants responded and those that did voted

against having another AGM in 2003.

Meetings with BCPA

Conside rable time and effort was spent over the year conveying concerns to BCPA and attempting to establish a clear

understanding of mutual roles and responsibilities.  A series of meetings were held, resulting in a “working group”

meeting towards the end of the year.  The outcome of this meeting was a proposed “Letter of Understanding” which was

approv ed by bo th Board s.  

The key elements of this agreem ent are as follows:

   C It is recognized that appropriate consultation and cooperation is in the interest of the profession of psychology and

the public in British Columbia.

   C It is recognized that there is a clear distinction between the roles and mandates of the College (regulation) and the

Association (advocacy).

   C It is agreed that representatives of the College an d the Association will meet on a reg ular basis.

   C On request, the College will provide brief consultation regarding compliance with  governing legislation and

consistency with College Bylaws and the Code of Conduct as time and resources allow.

   C It is agreed that the  College will, when appropriate, invite submissions from BCPA on matters that have been

identified by the  College as issu es of public c oncern tha t may affect the pr ofession.  

   C In the event of conflict or disagreement ab out issues, projects or conc erns, the partie s will initially refer all such

matters to a meeting of joint representatives of the parties with a v iew to clarity of the issues and reasons why the

parties differ which will then be taken back to the resp ective boards.

Information  Meeting/Dinner w ith Comm ittee Mem bers

I was delighted to  participate in the meeting between the Board and comm ittee members prior to the information meeting

on November 3, 2003 .  The involvement of committee members and their  contribution in terms of time and exp ertise

is much appreciated.  This meeting provides a valuable opportunity for discussion of substantive topics of shared concern

as well as a chance to thank committee members for their efforts on behalf of our profession.
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Budget

Given the unpredictability of regulation and the large number of changes in legislation, bylaws and the volume of

complain ts being processed by the College, I am pleased to report that our expenditures and receipts for 2003 were very

close to projections.  Ma ny thanks to the Registrar and th e Finance C ommittee fo r their efforts in this ach ievement.

Meeting with Sindi Hawkins

We were invited to attend a reception meeting with Sindi Hawkins, the then Ministe r of Health P lanning, to  thank those

who made submissions on changes to the Health Professions Act . The Registrar and Vice-Chair, Dr. Derek Swain,

attended the meeting on behalf of the College.

Appeals 2003

A total of 11 appeals were heard by the Board during 2003.  W hen complainants are dissatisfied with the decision of the

Inquiry Committee not to issue a citation, under the Health Professions Act they may file an appeal within 14 days of

notification of the decision.  For files closed over the past year (N= 44) by the Inquiry Committee, eleven were appealed.

The appeals were heard by the College board under the Health Professions Act.  The decision of the Inquiry Committee

was upheld  in each case .  

Demographics

The Board continues to be aware of the changing demographics of our registrants with the average age of registrants

increasing year by year.  Currently th e mean age is approximately 54 years old.  The changing demographic picture

means that in the  next five to ten yea rs we will see an inc reasing num ber of registra nts retiring from p ractice. 

Complaint Resolution

We are very p leased at our continued suc cess in achieving negotiated resolution to complaints.  At the same time, the

Board has been advised that there are a number of serious matters that may be heading towards a hearing of the

Discipline Committee. There is no question that it is preferable to resolve matters amicably and through negotiation and

discussion. There is also  little doubt that some matters are of such a serious nature that litigation is the necessary course

of action.

I encourage every registrant to read through this Annua l Report ca refully. Many th anks to the R egistrar and h er staff

for this impressive R eport.  If registrants read thro ugh the repo rt, many of the an xieties and co ncerns relate d to

complain ts could be alleviated. Take a look, for example, at the proportion of complaints which end up being dismissed.

Then look at the proportion of the complaints which are not dismissed but are resolved through negotiated resolutions.

Certainly  for all but the most serious complaints,  the statistics suggest that an open response to a complaint investigation

is in the best interest of the registrant. In the typical instance, if you receive a notification that the College has received

a compla int about you r conduc t, you would  be well-served  by asking you rself the questio n of whether o r not this is an

oppor tunity for constructive self-reflection. Approaching it from this point of view is more likely to lead to a

nonadversarial resolution.  Even when complaints are appropriately viewed as vexatious in  nature, there is  still something

to be learned about their prevention. If the particular complaint is investigated and you are asked to provide a  response

and/or to participate  in a without pre judice disc ussion with you r peers, the nu mbers sugg est engaging a ctively in this

process is in yo ur best interest. 

The College staff, committee members, and Board are working hard at fulfilling the mandate of the College.

Respectfully submitted,

Henry Harder, Ed.D., R.Psych.

Chair of the Board, 2003
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Inquiry Committee Report

The Inquiry Committee me t 11 times over the past year, in add ition to numerous teleconferenc es and other consultations.

In addition to ongoing complaint investigations, the outcome of which is fully reported in the Registrar’s report, the

committee spent hours  discussing a nu mber of o ther critical substantive issues related to practice.  Submissions were

received from psychology practitioners at Correctional Services of Canada with regard  to risk assessments.  The College

was asked to consider a practice advisory on the topic of whether or not file-based assessments of risk should be exempt

from the Code of Conduct requirement for face-to-face contact. After much discussion, the committee felt that there were

significant concerns with risk assessments in the correctional setting such that no such blanket exemption should be made.

As with other provisions of the Cod e, the registrant is ac countable  for provid ing informatio n on why he/sh e  was not ab le

to meet a particular provision of the Code because of  extenuating circumstances.  Other proposed practice advisories

were discussed, inc luding one w hich is forthcom ing with regard  to release of tes t data.  This is reported on in the

Legislative Committee report.   The committee directed staff to review the new APA Ethics Code w ith a view to noting

any desirable revisions to our Code of Conduct.  It was unanimously moved to indemnify officers of the College and

College co unsel for acting  at the direction  of comm ittees or the B oard, a mo tion later ratified b y the Boar d. 

In terms of complaints, the Inquiry Committee continues to deal with a tremendous volume due to both the large number

of complain ts and the amount of material of which the typical complaint is comprised.  It also appears, from responses

from respond ents in some complaints, that many registrants do not understand the role of the Inquiry Committee.  The

committee does not decide which complaints to investigate, nor are decisions made about whether or not a complaint

has merit until a complete review of the evidence has been performed.  Even then, the dec ision options open to the

committee are as prescribed by the Health Professions Act.  In brief, on receipt of a written complaint, the Inquiry

Committee must investigate.  Further, the committee may open its own investigation regarding any of the following

matters: (a) a contravention of this Act, the regulations or the bylaws;  (b) a failure to comply with a limit or condition

imposed under this Act, the regulations or the bylaws; (c) professional misconduct; (d) competence to practise the

designated health profession; (e) a physical or mental ailment, an emotional disturbance or an addiction to alcohol or

drugs that impairs his or her ability to practise the designated health profession.  For complaints on which the Inquiry

Committee determines  they have jurisd iction and in which there appears to be some evidence of an ethical violation,

the committee must request the registrant who is the subject of an investigation under this section to provide it with any

information regarding the matter that the registrant believes should be considered by the Inquiry Committee.  After

considering any information provided by the registrant, the Inquiry Committee may (a) take no further action if the

Inquiry Committee is of the view that the matter is  trivial, frivolous, vexatious or made in bad faith, or that the conduct

or competence to which the matter relates is satisfactory, (b) in the case of an investigation respecting a complaint, take

any action it considers appropriate to resolve the matter between the complainant and the registrant; (c) act under section

36; or (d) direct the Registrar to issue a citation under section 37.

Information is a useful tool for registrants who may be named as respondents in complaints.  Here are some examples

of complaints drawn from the 44 complaint files closed in 2003.

A registrant assessed an individual’s competence to drive, following a request from the Superintendent of Motor

Vehicles.  The complaint concerned the individual’s distress in the manner in which he perceived the registrant interacted

with him and what he perceived to be the registrant’s selective attention. The relevant sections of the Code of Conduct

were determined by the Inqu iry Committee as: standard 3.12 [accuracy], standard 7.7 [unprofessional behaviour], and

standard 3.3 [limits on practice].  After requesting and reviewing a copy of the registrant’s clinical records, the Inquiry

Committee invited the registra nt’s response to  the allegations, a nd to a question related to sensitivity to clinical issues.

The registrant responded to the questions and the responses satisfied the committee.  The complaint was closed in eight

months.  Subsequently the complainant appealed the decision of the Inquiry Committee not to take this matter to a

hearing.  T he Boa rd refused (i.e . denied) the  appeal.

A registrant attempted to conduct a mediation session with a woman and her brothers with regard to decisions related

to the care of their father.  After the sessions, and the perception on the part of the woman of an undesirable outcome
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from the sessions, the woman complained to the College alleging bias on the part of the psychologist.  The sections of

the Code of Conduct relevant to the complaint are: standard 3.11 [objectivity of opinions and interventions], standard

4.7 [avoiding misunderstandings], standard 5.1 [obligation], and standard 5.13 [multiple clients].   The Inquiry

Committee reviewed the documents provided by the complainant and the registrant’s clinical records, and asked the

psychologist a number of questions.  T hese questions  included asking about how the issue of the purpose of the session

had been addressed, informed consent, and the appropriateness of this form of mediation given the woman’s interpersonal

style and personality characteristics.  The respondent provided a detailed and thorough response to  the Inquiry

Committee that included relaying what he had learned from this experience and changes that he has since incorporated

into his practice.  The committee accepted the registrant’s response.  This complain t took five months to close.  The

decision was not appealed to the Board.

A woman and her husband attended couples counselling with a registrant.   The woman complained about her experience

of certain of the techniques used by the registrant during their sessions which she and her husband found to be indicative

of a lack of caring and conce rn.  The relev ant sections o f the Code  of Cond uct for this com plaint are: stand ard 5.1

[obligation], standard 5 .33 [avoid ing harm], an d standard  7.7 [unpro fessional behaviour].  The Inquiry Committee

obtained and  reviewed the registrant’s clinical records and then asked the registrant about his therapeutic techniques and

his response to  the complainant’s concerns.  The registrant responded with a description of his treatment philosophy and

techniques and expressed his regret that the client had perceived the therapy experience as described.  The registrant

agreed to provide a letter of regret to the client, which  he did and  the file was closed.  This complaint took six months

to resolve.   

A complaint was received about an assessment of a woman who claimed that she had be en sexually  abused by her father.

The woman later retracted this allegation.  The woman’s father complained to the College that he had been diagnosed

as “a child abuser” by the registrant without having been assessed or consulted in any fashion by the registrant .  The

Inquiry Committee decided, given the serious nature of the allegations, to conduct a practice inspection and obtain a

sample  of other clinical files from the registrant.  The files were reviewed by the committee and concerns were identified.

The relevant standards that were in effect at the time of the comp laint were: stand ard 1 and  standard 1 .f [responsib ility]

of the Ethical Sta ndards o f Psycholog ists [1985].  The committee then decided to open a complaint on its own motion,

and to ask the registrant to respond to the concerns on the files obtained during the inspection, in addition to continuing

its investigation o f the first compla int.  After negotiations with the registrant’s legal counsel, an agreement was reached

and the registrant signed a letter of undertaking agreeing to the complete supervision of his practice.  Shortly thereafter

the registrant resigned from the practice of psychology.  These two complaints took 21 and 17 months to investigate,

respectively.

A young woman complained to the College that she had requested a copy of her clinical records from a registrant she

had seen some time earlier and that the registrant informed her that he could not locate the records.  She expressed feeling

distressed about the registrant’s conduct to the registrant, who encouraged her to file a complaint with the College.  The

relevant standards of the Code of Conduct are: standard 7.7 [unprofessional behaviour], standard 13.1 [length of record

retention], standard 13.2 [legal requirements], and standard 13.3 [minor’s records].  The Inquiry Committee asked the

registrant about his file storage practices and the steps he took to locate the file.  The committee was satisfied with his

response and the file was closed after two months.  The complainant appealed to the Board and the Bo ard refused the

appeal.

Respectfully submitted,

Barba ra Passmo re, Chair

Inquiry Committee 2003
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Quality Assurance Committee Report

The Quality Assurance Committee’s main focus in 2003 was on the development of a continuing competency program.

In develop ing this propo sal, the Quality A ssurance C ommittee w as guided b y the following p rinciples:  

   C that the proposed program is not equivalent to a continuing education program, i.e., that continuing competency and

continuing education are com plementary, not identical. This program is qualitatively and quantitatively distinct from

a “continuing education” requirement in which forms must be completed following attendance at various

profession al worksho ps and co nferences;  

   C that the prog ram incorp orate the existin g emphas is on registrants se lf-declaring co mpliance a nd self-assessm ent;

   C that the require ment be re gulated with a v iew to minimiz ing College  resources, sta ff time, and registra nt effort;

   C that the prog ram be b ased on m inimal accep table requir ements, and  emphasiz e freedom  of choice an d flexibility;

   C that the progra m is an articulation of the basic expectations as described in the Code of Conduct of the College

which sets out the  standards b y which registran ts conduct w ill be evaluated .   

The program  was distributed  to registrants and  placed o n the website  for a three month period of registrant review and

oppor tunity for feedb ack to the Q uality Assuranc e Comm ittee.   The start date of January 2004 means that registrants

will be asked  to attest to com pliance with this re quiremen t with the 200 5 renewal.

Forty-six responses were received to our request for feedback.  Comments were specific, thoughtful and helpful. The

highest number of responses supported required continuing competenc y in principle.  The next most  frequent categories

were: questions regarding the audit and inspections; suggestions for making categories for hours more flexible;

suggestions for clarifying definitions of req uirements; and  suggestions fo r lowering co st to registrants, e.g., with  online

course credit.  The co mmittee will use the first few years to fine-tune the program, with input from registrants.

A second area of discussion stems from the interaction with other College committees and information provided by the

Registrar on issues of overlapping concern.  For example, among the goals of the Quality Assurance Committee is the

provision of information to registrants to enhance level of practice - a goal which is also consistent with complaint

prevention.  We are supportive of the College’s efforts to distribute information about common complaints and believe

that the Quality Ass urance C ommittee h as a role to p lay in translating these  issues into prev entive prac tice enhance ment.

It was agreed that the committee will continue to respond to feedback to the continuing competency program by way of

the “Frequently Asked Questions” available on the College website and in issues of the Chronicle.

Emily Goetz wa s the Chair of the  Quality Assur ance Co mmittee in  2003 and the College thanks her for her hard work

on this committee.
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Legislation Committee Report

Two major issues were under review in 2003 by the Legislation Committee.

Release of Information - Secure Test Materials  

Registrants  are often asked to disclose test materials, particularly in the context of litigation.  Several provisions in the
Code of Conduct add ress the issue of disclosure of confidential docu ments and materia ls.  Code o f Conduc t 11.15 in
particular req uires registrants to  make reaso nable efforts to  maintain the integ rity and security o f tests.  

One of the most frequent questions registrants ask  of the College is “What do I do if I have been asked to respond to a
court order requiring the provision of test materials”. The practice advisory under current review by the College includes
the following elements:

   C Determining whether this is a formal request (i.e.,  court order) or a request anticipating the issuing of a court order.
   C Outlining registrants’ responsibilities when responding to requests for raw data in the context of legal proceedings.

These include:
   
   a) describing the confidential nature of the do cuments;
   b) requesting that the parties do not make copies of the documents except for purposes of the legal proceedings;
   c) requesting tha t all persons wh o receive c opies of the d ocumen tation be bo und by the co urt Order ; 
   d) requesting that the raw test data not be disclosed to or discussed with any person who is not competent to use

or analyse the data, and if there is a dispute as to whether or not any such person is competent, the data may
be disclose d to the Co llege which sha ll determine w hether such p erson is com petent;

   e) requesting the return of all copies of the docu ments to  the registrant by the party who obtained the Order upon
completion of those proceedings and the expiration of any appeal periods; and 

   f) requesting that the Court Registry not to disclose the documents unless in accordance with the terms of the
court Order.

   
While  this matter remained under active review as of December 2003, the key elements of the draft advisory centre on
the obligations of the registrant to advise  legal counsel in writing of the nature of the documents, the relevant provisions
of the Code  of Cond uct, and the term s of the Adviso ry.  This would be  an advisab le course o f action in response to any
request for confidential information.

Privacy Legislation

The implementation of new legislation in Jan uary 200 4 will create  challenges for individual registrants, not unlike the
challenges faced by the College as an authority under the Freedo m of Info rmation  and Pr otection o f Privacy A ct.

On January 1, 20 04, private  psycholog y practitioners o ffices, medical d iagnostic facilities, an d non-hos pital medica l/
surgical facilities in British Columbia will be subject to privacy legislation, either through the provincial Personal
Information Protection Act (known as PIPA), or through  the federal Personal Information Protection and Electron ic
Docu ments  Act (known as PIPEDA).  Both statutes establish information practices in private organizations,  which can
be an individual, an agency, or a non-pro fit society.  Mo st private psych ology prac titioners in B.C . will fall under PIPA;
however, organizatio ns or individu als who transfer personal information across provincial borders for business purposes
will likely need to comply with PIPEDA in addition to any relevant sections of the provincial legislation.

Registrants are encouraged to read the Chron icle and to avail themselves of legal consultation and other available
resources in dealing with these new obligations.  W hile the Colleg e will continue to  make ava ilable informa tion likely
to be useful to registrants, the College office cannot advise registrants on how to respond to PIPA or PIPEDA requests.
See for example PIPA Implementation Tool 4, available o n the website of the Ministry of Ma nagement Services.
(http://www.mse r.gov.bc.ca /foi_pop /Privacy/T ools/PIP A_To ol_4.htm) .  

Respectfully submitted,

Michae l Joschko, C hair
Legislation Committee 2003
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PATIENT RELATIONS COMMITTEE

The Health Professions Act specified that regulatory bodies must have a Patient Relations Committee for the specific

purpose  of establishing a patient relatio ns program  to seek to pr event profe ssional misco nduct of a  sexual nature.  The

duties of this committee include:

   C recommending to the Board specific procedures for handling complaints of professional misconduct of a sexual

nature;

   C informing the public about the process of bringing their concerns to the College;

   C monitoring and periodically evaluating the operation of procedures established;

   C developing and coordinating ed ucational programs d ealing with professional misco nduct of a  sexual nature for

registrants and the public as required;

   C establishing a p atient relations p rogram to  prevent pr ofessional m isconduc t of a sexual natu re; 

   C recommend ing to the Board stand ards and guidelines for the con duct of registrants and their patients.

This Committee has develop ed a pam phlet for registra nts and a pa mphlet for m embers o f the public.  B oth docume nts

are currently under review by the B oard and Inqu iry and Quality Assurance Co mmittees.

Respectfully submitted,

Robert L. Colby, Chair 

Patient Relations Committee 2003

REGISTRATION COMMITTEE REPORT

I am pleased to report on four major areas of Registration Committee discussion and decision-making from 2003.  The

four major areas are: extraordinary application/registration issues; general issues related to application for registration,

issues having to do  with title and representation of credentials, and registration renewal issues.  This review is intended

to provide registrants with a sense of the many substantive and procedural issues which were the focus of the Registration

Committee over the 2003 year.

1. Extraordinary application/registration issues

Registration Exemptions

It is noted that the exemptions in place in B.C. with regard to title appear to be among the broadest in the country. Upon

approval of the Colleg e’s bylaws, the College initiated a series of discus sions with vario us groups fo r whom eligib ility

for registration with the College had been opened by means of the two classes of registration now possible. While there

has been no formal confirmation of this, the College of Psycholo gists has under stood thro ugh our co mmunica tion with

the Office of Professional Regulation under the Ministry of Health Planning that the government intends to co ntinue to

implement the recommendations of the Health Professions Council, one of which was that the exemptions would be

lifted.  Discussions initiated by the College remain ongoing with variou s groups, an d with  individu als currently

practicing psychology under the existing exemptions.   As part of this process, the College of Psychologists initiated

contact with the BC Association of School Psycho logists and other groups to d iscuss issues arising from the new class

of registration as well as the possibility of the government remo ving existing exemptions.
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The standards adopted by the Registration Committee are consistent with the national standards as reflected in the Mutual

Recognition Agreement in Psychology (MRA) as well as with standards adopted by the Canadian Psychological

Association, the Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards (representing 62 psychology jurisdictio ns in

North A merica), and  those in place  in most individ ual Canad ian psycholo gy jurisdictions .   

We anticipate that the College will be involved in ongoing discussions with government along with the various groups

whose me mbers ma y be directly affec ted by remo val of the exem ptions. 

The Extraordinary Application Period

Two major eve nts led to the co mmittee’s de cision to  implement an “extraordinary application period”.  The first is the

implementation of the new bylaws, driven by the provisions  of the MR A and the a vailability of registra tion for both

doctoral and master’s level applicants.   The second results from the recomm endation o f the Health P rofessions C ouncil

that existing exemptions as per the Psychologists Regulation under the Health Professions Act be lifted.  Ongoing

discussions with governm ent continue to  support the view the government does intend to implement all recommendations

of the Health Professions C ouncil.  [Copies of these  reports are available on the College website under the links section

or at www.healthplanning.gov.bc.ca/leg/hpc/review/index.html].  

During 2003 we met with representatives of the B.C. Association of School Psychologists (BCASP), the  BC branch of

the Canadian Counselling Association, the BC Association of Clinical Counselors, and other groups of individuals such

as a group o f university faculty to d iscuss the implic ations of this reco mmend ation.   We also initiated and participated

in meetings in Victoria with Alan Moyes (Executive Director, Ministry of Health Planning) and representatives from the

Ministry of Education regarding school psychology practitioners.  These meetings indicated general support for the

mechanisms that we have established for the extraordinary period.  Both ministries hope that a sim ilar proced ure could

be used when and if the exemptions are lifted.

The extraordin ary period  was from Ja nuary 1  to May 1, 2003.   Over 100 individuals took advantage of this extraordinary

period, representing school psychology, corrections, counselling and other areas of psychology.  The registration criteria

were not changed;  rather, the accommodations provided an extension of time within which  registration criter ia would

need to be met (su ch as com pletion of the EPPP  exam and  the internship), a nd recog nition of work  experienc e in

psycholog y.  Individuals accepted for registration under these provisions will be placed on the Limited Register until all

registration requirements have been met. Further, some individuals will  have more ongo ing restrictions on their license

to practice.

The Committee established general policies, procedures and criteria for the extraordinary period.  The guiding principles

were as follows:

 C commitment to regulate psychology practitioners

 C criteria and processes to establish minimal entrance criteria for independent practice in psychology

 C mechanisms for accountability and support when upgrading to entrance criteria 

It is anticipated that the mechanisms used during the extraordinary period would apply to other psychology practitioners

working in the school system who meet the basic eligibility criteria established by the Registration Committee if the

exemptio ns are lifted. 

This process is not without controversy, and there is much misinformation in the community about the interest of the

College in extending a welcome to master’s level practitioners who meet criteria, and in offering the accommodations

of the extraordinary period.  Much effort was placed in developing fact sheets and other information documents to ensure

that accurate information was available.  See for example, the fact sheet and FAQ’s on the College website.
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The work involved in the initial review of the applicatio ns under the  extraordin ary period  was extensive .  Four criteria

were used  to review extra ordinary ap plications for d egree acc eptability:

1. Degree granted by a recognized/regionally accredited institution.

2. Degree  granted from  a psycholo gy departm ent. 

3. Degree  granted in p sychology.

4. Degree psychological in nature.

Much future work will be required, including development of supervision protocols and ways in which the College can

evaluate and facilitate relevant supervised exp erience for these extraordinary ap plicants.

Oral Exam  for Extraordinary  Applicants

It was decided that the oral exam for extraordinary applicants will consist of two parts as follows:  Part A will focus on

awareness of comp etence area s, limits of competence, and  related ethical decision-making  for the purp ose of assisting

in determining limitations on scope of practice prior to placement on the Limited Register.  Part B will be similar to the

current oral exam, and will be undertaken after all other requirements have been fulfilled.

Mandatory Orientation

The Registration C ommittee d ecided to  require all extra ordinary ap plicants  to participate in a mandatory orientation

about the functioning o f the College a nd the resp onsibilities of a C ollege registra nt.  Four such  workshop s were held

during 2003 for applicants for registration under the extraordinary provisions.  It may be that this orientation will become

mandatory for all applicants.

2. Application for Registration Issues

Psychological Associates and the MRA

The MRA states that after July 1, 2003, all applicants will be assessed on the core competencies. Psychological

Associates who were lic ensed in their h ome jurisd iction after that time  are eligible for m obility.  The MRA does not

provide for automatic eligibility of reciprocal applicants who were licensed as psychological associates prior to July 1,

2003. The Committee agreed that these applications would be reviewed on a case-by-case basis to determine if they meet

the foundational and co re competencies.

Degree Authorization Act

The Registration Committee formed a task force to deal with issues related to the government’s enactment of the Degree

Authorization Act (DAA).  The task force consisted of Drs. McDonald, Bradley, Washburn and Wilkie.  The DAA was

passed in 2002.  T his legislation allow s for advanc ed educ ation, including  graduate tra ining, to be offered by institutions

other than chartered universities.  Its stated goal is to improve access to higher education.  The Registration Committee

had a number of concerns.  The Act was non-specific on a number of aspects.  For example, the Act authorized the

establishment of a Degree  Quality Assurance Board (DQA B) that will carry much of the policy and procedural decision-

making, and be responsible for the balance of access (stud ent benefits) with q uality control (p ublic benefit). As much

of the implementation of the Act will be determined in committee rather than through legislation, there was concern about

the process by which the new legislation would be implemented, and potential for the comp osition of the D QAB  to highly

influence what policies and systems are develop ed.  The m ost pressing c oncern wa s that there wou ld be a loosening of

the standards for graduate-level training in psychology. There could be a diversity of institutions offering master’s and

 doctorate  training: public  university colleges; U S-based p rivate schoo ls (often for-pro fit); locally-based  private scho ols

(profit and  no n-profit).  The issue o f distance ed ucation was a n additiona l concern a s it is associated b oth with access

and quality co ntrol issues. 
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The Task Force met with  Jim Soles, Assistant Deputy Minister in May, 2003 to better understand the government’s view

of the importance of consultation with health professions regarding the impleme ntation of the D AA and  the role of the

health professions  on the DQ AB.  This was a successful meeting in which Mr. Soles was receptive to our concerns about

quality issues and indicated that the government was willing to include health professions in relevant discussions. The

College received d raft docum ents from the M inistry in Septem ber, 2003 regard ing the prop osed de gree quality

assessment process under the DAA and invited feedback. Based on our review of the document, we made a submission

that drew the M inistry’s  attention to  a number of steps in the review process that appeared unclear. Overall, we were

pleased that the Ministry and the Degree Quality Assessment Board  wanted to c ollaborate  with regulatory b odies to

ensure high educational and professional standards in BC.

The College received a second communication from the Ministry requesting feedback on draft criteria for the use of the

word ‘university’ by private and out-of-province public post-secondary institutions. We responded with comme nts and

questions re lated to this as we ll. 

Next steps include  develop ing a proto col for pro viding feedback on new degrees/institutions being reviewed by the

DQAB and to keep our eye on the website for applications coming through the system.  The turnaround time for

submission s was typically  very short.  This put tremendous pressure on staff and the committee to produce a thorough

and thoughtful submissio n together in ea ch instance.  M uch appr eciation to staff an d task force m embers fo r their

excellent work.  It is unclear how much of a concern this will be to the College in coming years, but it seem s prudent to

continue to be informed and involved.

Assessment of core competencies

The process fo r assessing co re comp etencies was c onfirmed.  T he Registratio n Comm ittee will continue to assess all

applicants  on the core  compete ncies and  re affirmed its exp ectation that the  applicant wil l have achieved the core

competencies prior to application.

Year of post-degree supervision 

The committee endorsed  the introduction of a post-degree year of supe rvised experience for all app licants.  The earliest

date for implementation is 2006.

Coursew ork requirem ents

Three principles we re confirmed with regard to c oursework requirem ents:

   C the College’s registration criteria are to be consistent with those established by the Canadian Psychological

Association;

   C the scope of practice for psychological associates and psychologists is identical; and

   C applicants  graduating from CPA/APA accredited programs are considered to have met the registration coursework

criteria. 

The Comm ittee reaffirmed  current cou rsework re quiremen ts; however, it wa s recognize d that applicants can argue

equivalence regarding se nior under graduate c ourses for re quired co urses in found ational knowled ge in psycho logy,

bringing the registration c riteria in line with CPA accreditation standards.  During the 2003 year it was decided to amend

the registration criter ia coursework requirements to include two professional practice courses, one in intervention and

one in assessment.  This change ensures the registration criteria are consistent with our obligations to assess the core

compe tencies.   
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Criminal Record Review

The committee reviewed the Criminal Record Review Act and decided that additional information may be required for

new applicants and supported a bylaw change in this regard.

Written Jurisprudence Examination

Scores on the Written  Jurisprude nce Exam  are being clo sely tracked.  Most applicants pass on the first attempt.   It was

decided  to clarify the word ing of some  items of the exa m. 

3. Title Issues

Names of Incorporated Companies

Although the College  has decide d at this point no t to take on the a dditional res ponsib ility of regulating incorporated

companies,  we do receive frequent requests to give approval to company names, a step that is required in order to

incorpo rate. 

The Registration Committee adopted the following policy with regard to names of incorporated companies:   The name

of the Corp oration mu st meet the req uirements  set out in the College of Psychologists Code of Conduct, the Company

Act and the Health Professions Act.  In addition,  the Corporation must not have a number name,  the corporate name

must include the words "Professional Corporation" or "Société professionnelle",  the corporate name must include the

surname of one or more Shareholders of the Corporation as the surname is set out in the College register, the corpo rate

name may also include the Shareholder's given name, one or more o f the Shareho lder's initials or a co mbination o f his

or her given name and initials;  the corporate name must indicate the health profession (Psychology) practised by the

Shareholders;  the corpo rate name m ust not include  any informatio n other than tha t permitted or required, and the

corpora te name mu st not violate the p rovisions of a ny other Ac t.

In the case of company names for unincorporated companies,  the Code of Conduct standards regarding advertising must

be followed, in particular section 10 : Advertising and other pub lic statements.

Rete ntion  of Title

A policy was developed with regard to registrants whose registration has been suspended or cancelled, for a period of

six months or less as the result of a decision of the Board, Registration or Inquiry Committee.  Th ese individuals will

retain the title (i.e. psycholog ist or psycholo gical associa te) in effect at the time  of their suspension or cancellation. If

the suspension or cancellation has been for longer than six months, the individual will be required to make a new

application for registration.  T his is an important consideration, especially for registrants who may have been accepted

for registration during a grandfathering period.  For example, if a psychologist who holds a master’s degree does not pay

their renewal fees and is removed from the Register, he or she will need to reapply as a new applicant (psychological

associate) if off the register for more than six months.

Yellow Pages/Super Pages Advertising

The Code of Cond uct section 1 0.6 requir es that registrants inc lude their registra tion numbe r in all advertisem ents.  This

includes telephone boo k listings.  This requirement emerged from the refusal on the part of the Super Pages to provide

any screening of individuals requesting a listing under “Psychologists” in the yellow page s.  Identification o f registrants

of the College by  registration number is both a protection of public and protection of title issue.
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4. Registration Renewal Issues

Registration Renewal

I am pleased to report that the renewa l process wa s much imp roved this  year over the renewal process for the 2002 year.

Appreciation to registrants  for understa nding the nee d for one firm  deadline fo r payment o f full fees and for taking  the

responsibility to ensure that a ll required info rmation is pro vided on  the renewal fo rm.  Some  confusion re mains with

regard to eligibility for the different categories of registration.  The committee is firm that if a registrant is working, he

or she cannot choose to be on the Limited Register by virtue of the specific nature of his or her employment.  Placement

on the Limited Register by way of signing Dec laration B o n the registration  renewal form  is exclusively  for registrants

who are tempo rarily not work ing [practising]  for reason o f medical, parental or maternity leave, sabbatical, or are

registered in a nother psyc hology jurisd iction (“Out o f Province ”). 

Reinstatement issues

The committee adopted the following policy: former registrants who have been off the register for six months or less may

request reins tatement; form er registrants wh o have be en off the register  for a longer p eriod wo uld need to  reapply. 

Area of Practice

The College has on file the area of practise for all registrants, and it is clearly indicated for all new applicants.  The

Registration Committee agreed that the area of pra ctice will remain  in the renewal fo rm.  The Committee discussed the

issue of registrants  changing their area of practice at renewal, and reciprocal applicants changing their area of practice

from that of their home jurisdiction at application. The Registration Committee decided that registrants, starting at

renewal 2005, a nd recipro cal applica nts, beginnin g on form revision completion, would be required to provide an

explanation of a change in area of practise.  Further policies on this issue will ensue.

Processing Fee 

Bylaw 50(3) req uires that registran ts inform the C ollege in writing (r egular mail  or fax), clearly indica ting a change  in

address or any other information on the Register.  Due to the volume of mail handled by the College, and the cost and

time involved in dealing with returned mail and making changes to this information, a $100 processin g fee will be

assessed to r egistrants who  do not ad here to this bylaw . 

It was a pleasure to work with the Registrar and her staff over the past year and my gratitude is also extended to the

hardworking, insightful and dedicated members of the committee who so generously gave of their time, energy and

expertise.

Respec tfully submitted, 

Michael F. Elterman,

Chair
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FINANCE COMMITTEE REPORT

Expenditures for the 2003 year were within budgeted expectations.  Revenues exceeded the budgeted  amounts d ue to

the unplanned revenues received from applications under the extraordinary provisions established by the Registration

Committee.  This additional revenue was considered as part of 2004 budget planning. Fees were increased by $100.00

to help provide financial stability in light of u ncertainty in the nu mber of re gistrants and re tirement,  and staffing needs

in response to increasing workload.  Audited Financial statements for the 2003 year from Raber Mattuck are appended

at the end of this A nnual Rep ort.  

Table 1: Expenses as Percent of Total Expenses

Year Wages and  Benefits Statutory Expenses %  of T otal 

Expenses

% Increase from

Previous Year

Amount % Amount % Amount   % %

1996 219,693 39 171,528 31 558,824 70 N/A

1997 262,099 38 276,641 40 687,688 78 23

1998 280,683 37 212,330 28 758,499 65 10.3

1999 225,278 24 269,623 28 954,682 52 25.9

2000 396,422 40 242,725 25 978,860 65 2.5

2001 380,312 35 284,161 27 1,071,386 62 9.5

2002 423,012 38 278,125 25 1,106,904 63 3.3

2003 469,062 41 301,244 26 1,146,128 67 3.5

Figure 1: Wages and Benefits/Statutory Expenses as Percent of Total Expenses
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REGISTRAR’S REPORT

I am pleased to provide a report o n the activities of the  College for  the year 200 3. This rep ort is divided  into four main

sections:

I. The first section offers a brief summary of the scope a nd variety of ac tivities of the Colle ge in meeting its m andate

of regulating psychology in the public interest under the Health Professions Act. 

II. The sec ond sectio n provide s an in depth d escription o f activities in the area o f registration. 

III. The third  section pro vides a des criptive and  statistical analysis of co mplaint and  other investiga tive matters.  

IV. The fourth section summarizes administrative activities related to external relationships and our obligations under

the Ombudsm an and Freedo m of Information and P rotection of Privacy Acts.

I. SCOPE OF COLLEGE ACTIVITIES

The mandate of the College o f Psycholog ists of British Co lumbia is to reg ulate the pro fession of psyc hology in  the public

interest.  In fulfilling this mandate, the Board has established a set of objectives which include the following:

C the establishment, maintenance and administration of requirements for registration and continuing registration

as a psycholo gy practitioner in B ritish Columb ia consistent with n ational and in ternational stan dards (bo th

substantive an d proce dural) for p rofessional re gulation in psyc hology; 

C the efficient and timely management of co mplaints;

C the establishmen t and maintenance of regular and effective communication with registrants about regulatory

issues affecting them ;  

C to enhance  the profile, stand ing and cred ibility of the Colleg e with govern ment; 

C the development and maintenanc e of an effective s ystem for do cument co ntrol, manag ement,  filing and storage,

and the assu rance of da ta integrity, security, co ntrol and m anageme nt.

The main activities wh ich comp rise the efforts to  reach these objectives are described  in the chart which  follows. Th is

list is intended to be descriptive and informative, not exhaustive.



Table 2: Scope of College Activities

R E G I S T R A T I O N  M A T T E R  S

Main Activity Area Subactivities Description

1. Applications a) Application Queries respond ing to qu eries regard ing registra tion criteria

processing payment for application package

determination of eligibility for application categories  [reciprocal, regular, temporary,

extraordinary]

b) Review of Application

Files

i. Comp leteness

ii. Credentials and

Consistency

iii. Evaluation of Core 

Competencies as per

the Mu tual 

Recognition

Agreement (MRA)

review o f applicatio n files for co mpleten ess, follow  up on re ferences, p revious lice nse to

practice, criminal record check 

review of application for credentials and consistency, follow up on questions regarding

consistency between training and credentials and intended area of practice

processing application fees

correspondence, review of submissions, and decision-making with regard to issues

arising from file review, criminal record check and references

review of files, references, for evaluation on the core competencies as per MRA

c) Administration, Scoring,

Communication of

Results for Required

Examin ations 

EPPP, o ral exam ination, w ritten jurispru dence e xamin ation for re gular app licants

written jurisp rudenc e exam ination fo r reciproc al applican ts

EPPP, written jurisprudence examination, oral examination part A and part B for

extraord inary app licants

admin istration, sche duling, sco ring and  comm unication  of results

rescheduling o f examination s for individuals wh o don’t pass

correspondence, review of submissions and decision-making for applicants for whom

failure or placement on the Limited Register is recommended

processing examination fees

d) Placement on the

Register or Limited

Register

arranging supervision for limited registrants including training of supervisors, obtaining

supervisio n agreem ents

monitoring and support  for  ongoing supervision,  tracking of supervision reports , terms

and conditions

processing supervision fees, registration fees, issuance of certificates, confirmation of

insurance coverage



R E G I S T R A T I O N  M A T T E R  S ( C o n t i n u e d )

Main Activity Area Subactivities Description

2. Registrant

Activities

a) Queries responding to queries regarding registration status, confirmation of registration for

insurance companies and other third party paye rs

b) Renew als processin g registration  renewa ls

review of renewal information and follow up on incomplete information

query/follow up of information as required

entering and tracking changes to register information

c) Registrant Services compilation and printing of directory

comp ilation and  printing o f chronic les, annua l report, m ailouts

Registration Committee activities

development of prop osals for committee consideration, e.g., criteria for coursework

requirem ents

implementation of committee decisions and policies

processing address changes

processing registration status changes

provision of ve rification of status docum ents to third parties by registran t request

annua l report to reg istrants

preparation for information meetings and AGM

administration of continuing competency program

d) Comm ittee and Board

Activities

development of proposals for committee and/or Board consideration

implementation of policy decisions by com mittees or Board

implementation of directions from com mittees or the Board

coordination of agenda preparation and distribution to committees

development of proposals for consideration by Board and committees

training of committee mem bers

recruitment and  training of public m embers 

e) Policy Development ongoin g policy d evelopm ent and re view of  registration r equirem ents for co mplian ce with

MRA and consistency with CPA, APA and other psychology regulatory and credentialling

bodies

ongoing policy development and implementation procedures for review and consideration

of Registration Committee, e.g., supervision requirements for supervised work experience

liaison/monitoring of interface with government, new legislation



I N V E S T I G A T I V E  M A T T E R S

Main Activity Area Subactivities Description

1. Applicants a) Investiga tion of fitne ss to

practice issues for

applican ts

investigation of title issue violations under HPA and regulations under the Act.

follow up and tracking of inappropriate use of title or  practice of psychology

investigatio n of ma tters related to fitn ess to practic e for app licants

2. Registran ts b) Complaints about

registrants

ensuring principles of hearing and notice

   i) correspo ndenc e with

complainants and

respond ents

   ii) tracking and monitoring

of all actions on

comp laints

   iii) inspections under S. 28

         of the HPA

   iv)  without prejudice

          meetings

   v) preparation for

extraordinary h earings,

hearings 

   vi) tracking of limitations

 and conditions

  vii) coordinating with Inquiry

Comm ittee members

 viii) ongoing liaison with 

College counsel

notification and updates, request for clinical records

letters unde r sections 3 3(4) and  33(5) o f the Act.

drafting, delivering and tracking letters of undertaking

decision re ports

logging all correspondence and clinical records

document tracking

appointment of inspector

inspection, collection and copying of files

logging, tracking and review of files

arrangements and agenda for without prejudice meetings

negotiatin g settleme nts and ag reemen ts

preparation for disclosure

prepara tion of he aring m aterials

publication of suspensions

ongoing liaison with supervisors

ensuring complaint files are up to date and available for review

ensuring delivery and receipt of complaint correspondence

coordinating committee member file review

communication with committee members on correspondence 

communicating and tracking instructions to counsel

planning and consultation



E X T E R N A L  R E L A T I O N S H I P S

Main Activity Area Subactivities Description

1. External

Relationships

a) Other psychology

regulatory bodies

   i)    Canadian regulators

  ii) North American

  iii) International

meetings throughout the year

implementation and clarification of Mutual Recognition Agreement

meetings at Council of Provincial Associations of Psychologists - twice a year

ASPPB - twice a year

once every 3-5 years

b) Other psychology

organizations

liaison with BCPA

implementation of letter of understanding

coordinating communication

c) Other regulatory bodies

(monthly m eetings)

Executive Directors and Registrars

Health Regulatory Organizations

d) Government

 i) Office of Professional

Regulation

ii) Office of the Freedom of

 Information and

Protection of Privacy

Commissioner

 iii) Ombudsman’s Office

 iv) Board Allocation and

Resources Office

 liaison with office of professional regulation regarding bylaw development and approval

review and response to submissions from other regulated professions

receipt and tracking of all requests for information under FOIPPA

responding to all requests within time frame and making decisions on severing and

withho lding do cume nts

decision-making with regard to appeals to Inquiry and seeking appropriate legal

consultation

 timely responses to inquiries from the office of the Ombudsman.

 liaison and correspondence with regard to public appointees
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II. REGISTRATION/APPLICATION MATTERS

This section reviews activities at the College to do with the Register of the College, application for registration, and

registrant matter s in the following n ine sections: 1 . the College R egister 200 3, 2. summ ary of applic ation activity, 

3. status of application files, 4. area of practice, 5. examinations, 6. extraordinary applicants, 7. time from application

to registration, 8. registrant status issues and 9. correspondence.

1. The College Register 2003

As shown in Table 3  below, there was a small decre ase in the number of registrants for the College.  With the current

demog raphic  profile of registrants, it is anticipated that an increasing number of registrants will be retiring over the

next 5-10 years.

Table 3: The College Register 2003 as at Dec. 31, 2003

Category 2001 2002 2003

Full Register 873 863 889

Limited Register- Inquiry Committee 15 14

Limited Register- Inquiry Com.-Non-Practicing 1 1

Limited Register - Out-of-Province 57 58 43

Limited Register - Non-Practicing 51 61 17

Limited Register- Retired 19 17 15

Limited Register- Registration Committee 1 2

Limited Register- Temporary 1 2

Limited Register-Pending as at Dec. 31, 2003 1

Totals 1000 1017 984

* numbers a re amend ed/correc ted from 2 002 ann ual report.

2. Summ ary of Application Activity

Table  4 provides a summary of the number of applications processed during 2003 along with comparison data for the

previous two years.  Two major differences from previous years should be noted.  First, because o f the decision to

provide an extraordinary registration period (described above in both Chair and Registration Committee reports), the

office was processing a dramatic increase in the number of applications during 2003. Second, as indicated in the table,

2003 was the first year that individuals who applied under the provisions  o f the  Mutual Recognition Agreement

completed the registration process.  A total of 4 reciprocal applicants completed the registration process in 2003.

Fifteen (15) regula r applicants  c ompleted  the registration process, for a total of 1 9 new registra nts in 2003 .  This

number is a nticipated to  be significantly high er in 2004 . 
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Table 4:  App lication Activity Summary

Activity 2001 2002 2003

Regular Temporary Reciprocal Extraordinary Unclassified Total

Application packages
requested 

84 84 221

# of applications
received 

26 53 41 14 106 2 163

Appl. for temporary
registration 

3 0 2    2

# of applications
withdrawn 

1 0  0

# of applications
refused 

2 0 9  9

# of applicants
registered 

35 19 15 4 19

# of application files
open 

82 83 85 28 110 2 225*

* The total of 225 is the total number of application files which were processed during the 2003 year.

3. Status of Application Files

The table below (Table 5) shows the status of the 225 application files as at December 31, 2003.  The file indicated

as “suspende d” in the table reflects a decision of the Registration Committee to place an application on hold as matters

related to a positive criminal record check were investigated.  The large numbers of application files created an

unprecedented volume of correspondence, document tracking and related work for the College staff.  As at December

31, 2003 a total of 82 files were at initial stages of review for completeness and submission of all required

documentation.  A further 65 files were under credential and consistency review.  This review is a careful examination

of formal academic training, supervised and work experience in relation to declared areas of intended professional

activity, review of references and follow up on any issues emerging from the review.
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Table 5:  Application Status as at December 31, 2003

Regular Reciprocal Extraordinary Unclassified Total

Initial review, da ta entry,

completeness check

13 9 60 82

Under review for credentials and

consistency

22 3 40 65

EPPP 13 n/a 13

Written Jurisprudence Exam 4 12 16

Oral Examination 10 n/a 10

Refused/N ot eligible 1 9 2 12

Suspended 1 1

Registered 15 4 19

Expired/Withdrawn 7 7

Total 85 28 110 225

4. Area of Practice

An applicant is re quired to ind icate one area of practice in psychology on the application form.  This area is expected

to be the broad area  of practice which best  describes th e individual’s tra ining and co mpetenc e.  Table 6  below de picts

the area of practice indicated by the applicants in 2003.

Table 6:  Area of Practice 2003

Area of Practice Regular Recipr ocal Extraordinary Unclassified Total

Clinical Psychology 52 17 25 84 

Counselling Psychology 23 4 47  74 

Clinical Neuropsychology 6 2 8 

School Psychology 3 2 31 36  

Health 1 1

Rehabilitation 1 1 2

Research /Academ ic 1 1

Forensic/Corrections 2 15 17 

Total 85 28 110 2 225
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5. Examinations

There are three examinations for regular applicants: the EPPP, the oral exam (OE) and the written jurisprudence

examinatio n (WJE ). Reciprocal registrants are only required to complete the WJE.  Table 7  below summarizes

examination results for 2003.  No extraordin ary applica nts reached th e stage in the ap plication pro cess to be e ligible

for any of their req uired exam inations which include EP PP (or  the Nationa l Association  of Schoo l Psycholo gists

(NASP) examination for individuals   self-selecting permanent placement on the Limited Register in school

psychology), the oral exam (which has been divided into two parts for these applicants) and the WJE.

Table 7: Exam ination results

2001 2002 2003

Number of applicants who wrote EPPP 48 9 16

Number of Oral examinations 44 13 15

Number of WJE  examinations 0 21 19

The EPPP exam was taken 16 times in 2003 with five failures.  Of the three people who retook the EPPP, two passed

on the seco nd attemp t.

For oral exam inations, 15 e xamination s took plac e in 2003, one o f which was a second attempt.  For the 14 first time

examinees,  12 passed all eight areas, one failed two areas and one failed 5 out of the 8 content areas. The individual

who failed in two areas retook the exam and passed all 8 areas on the second attempt. The individual who failed in five

of the eight areas is planning to retake the examination.

The WJE examination was administered 19 times in 2003 (16 applicants; with three individuals taking the exam twice

during the year), 11 regular and 5 reciprocal applicants.  Six applicants failed the on the first attemp t in 2003.  Three

of these retook the exam in 2003 and two of the three passed on the second attempt.  While all failures are

communicated to the applicants, passing the exam is a requirement only for applicants who applied for registration

after July 1, 2001.

We re viewed the W JE exam  item by item an d made s ome wo rding chang es to increase  clarity.

6. The Extraordinary App licants

Extraordinary applicants completed a mandatory orientation workshop during 2003. The orientatio n workshop

included se ssions on the fo llowing:  

   C introduction to professional regulation, including a history of regulation o f psycholog y in B.C., a  review of the

Mutual Recognition Agreement (MRA) and discussion of national standards, the Health Professions Act;

registrant resp onsibilities and  relationship to  the College ; 

   C preventive practice including an area-by-area review of the Code of Conduct, common complaint areas,  and

review of common legal issues; and 

   C ethical decision-making.

The 110 extraordinary applicants are typically individuals who have worked in the field of psychology under current

exemptions and most have many years of experience.  One of the eligibility criteria established by the Registration

Committee was that applicants must have been members in good standing of another regulatory or quasi-regulatory

body.  The table b elow (Table 8 ) depicts the organizational affiliation of these applicants.
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Table 8:   Organizations for extraordinary app licants

American Association of Marriage and Family Therapists (AAMFT) 4

British Columbia Association of School Psychologists (BCASP) 32

Canadian Association of Rehabilitation Professionals (CARP) 1

Canadian Counselling Association (CCA) 4

College of Teachers 2

Correctional Services of Canada 25

Equivale nt* 2

Foreign License 2

National Association of School Psychologists (NASP) 1

B.C. Association of Clinical Counsellors (BCACC) 28

Registered Nurses 2

Board of Registration for Social Work 1

UBC  Faculty* 6

* Two individuals, while not members of any specific organization, and the faculty members were determined to have

had work  experienc es of sufficient structu re to be eq uivalent to me mbership  in a quasi-regu latory bod y.

7. Time from application to registration

Of the 15 regular applicants, one file is not included in the table below (Table 9) as the applicatio n was put on  hold

for an extended period by the applicant.  Of the remaining 14 regular  applicants w ho comp leted registratio n in 2003,

it took an average of 13 m onths from application to d ate of registration with a range of 11-22 m onths.

For reciproca l applicants co mpleting the a pplication p rocess in 20 03, it took an  average o f 9 months to become

registered, with an average of 6-13 months.  This period is expected to be shorter in the coming year.

Table 9:  Length of time in months from application to registration

2002 2003

Regular Reciprocal Regular

Mean Range Mean Range Mean Range

Average # of months from

application to registration 

9 mo.

(n=16)  

6-16 9 

(n=4)   

6-13 13

(n= 14)

11-22
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8. Registrant Status Issues

A significant amount of activity occurs with regard to movement between registration ca tegories and  individual’s

moving on and off the register during the course of the year.  Policies and procedures are being developed and refined

in this area.

9. Correspon dence w ith Applicants and  Registrants  

The large number of applications had serious implications for work load in 2003.  One of the clearest indications of

this is in terms of the amount of correspondence to applicants and registrants, as indicated in Table 10 below.

Table 10:  Co rrespondence with Applicants and R egistrants

2001 2002 2003

Corresp ondenc e (Numb er of letters to ap plicants

and registrants on registration matters)

500 2500 5658**

**It should be  noted that this  number includes some mailouts to groups (i.e. letters to all extraordinary or regular

applicants) but not Chronicles,  renewal certificates, reminder  postcards which would add another 5000-6000 items

of correspondence.

III.  COMPLAINT AND INVESTIGATIVE MATTERS

This section will review nine areas of complaint tracking, followed by a summary of investigation of title issue

violations and the Psychologists Regulation:

1. Complaint file status as at December 31, 2003.

2. Descriptive complaint summary

3. Length of time from receipt to file closure

4. Closing rea sons for clos ed comp laints

5. Summary of com ponents of the investigative process

6. Letters of undertaking

7. Comp laint history and n umber o f registrants with co mplaints

8. Complaint correspondence

9. Investigation of title issue violations and the Psychologists Regulation

1. Complaint file status as at December 31, 2003

The College continues its efforts to document and describe the complaint process to registrants and the public.  Since

the College of Psychologists came under the Health Professions Act, the College has processed a total of  327

complaints, including the 97 “backlog” complaints that were open on January 1, 2000.  Below is a summary of

complain t file status in 2003 . 
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File status is described for the following com plaint groupings:

a. “backlog complaints” which are complaints open as at January 1, 2000.

b. complaints received in the year 2000

c. complaints received in the year 2001

d. complaints received in the year 2002

e. complaints received in the year 2003

f. all complaints processed by the College under the Health Professions Act (i.e. after January 1, 2000).

a. “Backlog” Complaint files (n=97)

As of December 2002, the College had resolved 90 of the 97 files which were unresolved as of January 2000.  The

same 7 files open in  Decem ber 200 2 remaine d open o n Decem ber 31, 2 003.  These 7  files belong to o ne respon dent,

a former registrant.  The respondent has obtained new legal counsel and a letter of undertaking was being negotiated,

as at December 31, 2003.

b. Files received in 2000 (n =63)

Of the 63 comp laints received in  the year 2 000, al l have been closed excep t for a total of six

files wh ich are in  negotia tion for a le tter of undertaking .  

Table 11 :  Complaint File Status as at December 31, 2003

Status

“Backlog” 2000 2001 2002 2003 All Complaints 

# % # % # % # % # % # %

Awaiting Review 9 17 9 3

Active Review 1 2 9 17 10 3

Citation 6 10 2 4 8 2

Clinical File

Request/Receipt

8 15 8 2

33(4) 2 4 2 1

33(5) 4 7 8 15 12 4

HPA Section 28

Inspections

1 2 1 .5

Without Prejudice

Meeting

1 2 1 .5

Letter of

Undertaking 

7 7 6 10 3 5 2 4 2 4 20 6

Total #  open  files 7 7 6 10 9 15 9 17 40 75 71 22

Total # closed 90 93 57 90 51 85 45 83 13 25 256 78

TOTAL 97 100 63 100 60 100 54 100 53 100 327 100
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c. Files received in 2001 (n = 60)

Of the 60 comp laints received in  2001 , the Inqu iry Committee  has moved to c itation fo r a

discipline comm ittee hea ring on  six files, and three file s are under negotiation  for a letter of

undertaking.  All the remaining files are closed, having been dismissed or resolved.

d. Files received in 2002 (n = 54)

  

For the 54 com plaints receive d in 2002 , 1 file remains un der active re view, a citation has been issued for 2  files, a

33(5) letter ( a letter under section 33(5) of the Health Professions Act that requests the respondent to provide the

Inquiry Committee with any information it wants the committee to consider, along with providin g the respo ndent with

all of the documents in the complaint file) had been issued on another 4 files, and two files were in negotiation for a

letter of undertaking as at December 31, 2003.

e. Files received in 2003 (n = 53)

There were 53 complaints received in 2003.  As shown in T able 11,  2 5% of the se 53 com plaints were closed by the

end of the year.  The remainder of comp laints are sprea d out throug hout the othe r file status categor ies.  The files in

the “awaiting review ” category w ere receive d toward s the end of the  year and ha d not yet bee n assigned fo r in-depth

review by D ecembe r 31, 200 3. 

f. All files processed by the College under the Health Professions Act (n=327)

As summarized in Table 11, a total of 327 files had been processed by the College by December 31, 2003 under the

Health  Professions Act.  Of these, 78% were closed as at December 31, 2003 (n=25 6).  There were 71 open files on

that date at various stages of the comp laint  process.

2. Descriptive Complaint Summ ary

The descriptive variables which have been tracked on all complaints received post-January 1, 2000 are: primary

allegation made by the complainant, complaint context, area of practice, complainant type, and length of  time to close

files.

a. Primary Allegation

For complain ts received in 2 003, a sm aller percen tage appe ar in the assessment category than in previous years (36%)

while there is an increase in the percentage of primary complaint allegations related to competence (19%).  The other

two main areas of primary allegations are professionalism/obligations and re lationship with clients (17% each).  T hese

numbers may represent a change in the content of complaint concerns.  Alternatively they may be reflective of our

greater precision in describing primary allegations with the introduction of the Code of Conduct and our tracking of

allegations according to Code of Conduct categories.   See Table 12.
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Table 12:  Primary Allegations

Primary

Allegation

“Backlog” 2000 2001 2002 2003 All

complaints 

# % # % # % # % # % # %

Advertising &

Public

Statements

1 1 2 3.7 3 1

Assessmen t 57 58.7 28 44.4 28 46.7 24 44.4 19 36 156 48

Competence 6 6.2 2 3.2 1 1.7 3 5.6 10 19 22 7

Confiden tiality 8 8.2 2 3.2 3 5 5 9.3 2 4 20 6

Dual Roles 7 7.2 2 3.2 1 1.7 2 3.7 12 4

Fees/Statem ents 6 9.5 1 1.7 1 1.75 8 2.5

Impairment 1 1.7 1 .33

Informed

Consent

5 7.9 4 6.7 3 5.6 1 1.75 13 4

Record

Maintenance

1 1.75 1 .34

Professionalism/

Obligations

6 6.2 6 9.5 8 13.3 6 11.1 9 17 35 11

Provision of

Services

1 1.6 3 5 1 1.9 5 1

Relationship w/

Clients

9 10 10 7 9 17 45 14

Rep. of Services 1 1.75 1 .33

Violation of Law 2 2.1 1 1.6 1 1.9 4 1

Total 97 100 63 100 60 100 54 100 53 100 327 100

b. Complaint Context

As shown in Table 13, over 60% of all complaints received by the College under the Health Professions Act were in

the assessment c ontext, com pared with 2 4% in interv ention, 13%  in various other contexts and only 1% in consultation.

This distribu tion holds for  complain ts received in th e 2003  year as well. 
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Table 13:  Complaint Context

“Backlog”  2000  2001 2002 2003 All

complaints 

# % # % # % # % # % # %

Assessment 64 66 36 57.1 36 60 33 61.1 34 64 203 62

Consultation 1 1.6 3 5 4 1

Intervention 21 22 20 31.7 15 25 10 18.5 12 23 78 24

Other 12 12 6 9.5 6 10 11 20.4 7 13 42 13

Totals 97 100 63 100 60 100 54 100 53 100 327 100

c. Area of Practice

For complaints received since January 2000, we have been assigning a general practice category to describe the area

of practice in which the complaint occurred.  These terms are descriptive only.  As the table illustrates, 45% of the 233

complaints were in the broad area of clinical psychology, with an additional 28% in a  subset of clinica l psycholog y -

custody and access.  See Table 14.

Table 14:  Complaint  - Area of Practice

Complaint Area

of Practice

 2000  2001 2002 2003 All

complaints

# % # % # % # % # %

Clinical Psychology 27 43 25 42 28 52 22 42 102 44

Custody and Ac cess 15 24 22 37 14 26 13 24 64 28

Counselling Psychology 2 3 8 13 2 4 4 8 16 7

Forensic/Correctional 12 19 2 3 5 9 5 9 24 10

Industrial/organizational 1 2 1 1

Neuropsychology 3 5 1 2 2 4 6 3

Rehabilitation Psychology 1 2 1 2 3 6 5 2

Research /Academ ic 2 4 2 1

School Psychology 1 2 1 2 4 4 6 3

N/A 2 3 2 4 4 2

Totals 63 100 60 100 54 100 53 100 230 100
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d. Complainant Type

As shown in Table 15, 28% of complaints received in the year 2003 came from third party situatio ns, such as co urt-

ordered or WC B assessm ents.  Nine co mplaints (17 %) cam e directly from  clients and 15 % from c lient relatives.  A  total

of 15% of co mplaints were registrants lodging complaints regard ing the conduct of another reg istrant.  These

percentages are similar for complaints received in 2000, 2001 and 2002.

Table 15:  Complainant Type

“Backlog”  2000  2001 2002 2003 All

Complaints 

# % # % # % # % # % # %

Client - 3 rd Party

situation

9 9 23 36 29 48 17 31 15 28 93 28

Client - direct 69 71 17 28 10 17 8 15 9 17 113 35

Client relative 1 1 6 9 9 15 9 17 8 15 33 10

Colleague 13 13 13 21 9 15 6 11 8 15 49 15

Inquiry

Committee

2 2 2 3 2 3 4 7 6 11 16 5

Other 3 2 2 3 1 2 10 18 7 13 23 7

Totals 97 100 63 100 60 100 54 100 53 100 327 100

3.  Length of Time to Close Files

The average o f 15.5 mo nths to close a  file, as reporte d in the table below, is und er the 18 m onth target wh ich is

stipulated as desirable in the case law for regulatory complaints.   More importantly, there is a clear trend over the past

few years towards less time to close files.

Length  of time from receipt to closure is only 13 months when the yea rs 2001, 200 2 and 2003  are combined, as a

number of the files closed during the year 2000 were from the “backlog” files.  Many of these complaints  had been

unresolved for some time.  See Figure 3.

Table 16:  Time to Close Files

2000  2001 2002 2003 Total

Average  length of time in

months  to close file for

complaints closed during that

calendar year 

18.1

N=70

14.1

N=78*

14.2

n=62

11.23

n=44

15.5

n=254*

* Two complaints from 1993 which were opened for administrative reasons and  later closed a re not includ ed in this

computation.
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Figure 2:   Leng th of Time to  Close Com plaints

4. Closing reaso ns for com plaints closed in  2003 an d comparison with p revious years

The tables and figures below confirm the pattern of complaint resolution reported for previous ye ars and disc ussed in

various College publications.  As in past years, the  majority of complaints are dismissed because of insufficient

evidence, or not proceeded on (sometimes due to administrative or procedural reasons), or withdrawn.  In past years

the propor tion has typically b een abo ut 2/3 of closed complaints.  For 2003 this proportion is closer to three-quarters

of closed comp laints.

Of the remaining 12 files, 9 (21%) were resolved through the registrant agreeing to take certain steps to satisfy the

Inquiry Committee that identified concerns had been addressed.  Of the three remaining complaints: one complaint

matter was referred to the Registration Committee to be addressed should the registrant ever reapply.  The registrant had

closed her practice and left the province.  Two files were closed because the registrant chose to resign from the practice

of psychology and is off the register.
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Table 17:  Closing Reasons

Closing Reasons Closed in

2000

Closed in

2001

Closed in

2002

Closed in

2003

Closed 

01/00-  12/03

# % # % # % # % # %

Decision Not to Proceed 11 16 16 20 6 10 7 16 40 16

Withdrawn 5 7 2 3 2 3 1 2 10 4

Insufficient Evidence 28 40 41 51 31 50 24 55 124 48

Letter of Undertaking Signed 13 19 4 5 16 28 6 14 39 15

Resolved 10 14 14 18 2 3 3 7 29 11

Referred to Reg. Committee 1 1 3 4 1 2 5 2

Resigned 5 8 2 5 7 3

Registration Cancelled 2 3 2 1

Totals 70 100 80 100 62 100 44 100 256 100

Table  18 below collapses the categories of closing reasons to illustrate the proportion of files closed through the

different means of resolution of complaints, in addition to the proportion dismissed because of insufficient evidence

of an ethical violation or proced ural reasons.

 Table 18:   Summary of Closing Reasons: Means of Complaint Resolution

Closing Reasons Files Closed
in  2000

Files Closed
in 2001

Files Closed
in 2002

Files Closed
in 2003

Closed between
01/00-  12/03

# % # % # % # % # %

Decision Not to Proceed

Withdrawn/ Insufficient

Evidence

44 73 59 84 39 63 32 73 174 68

Resolved/

Letter of Undertaking 

23 33 18 23 18 29 9 21 68 27

Referred to Registration

Committee/Resigned

from Practice of

Psychology

Registration Cancelled

3 4 3 4 5 8 3 7 14 5

Totals 70 100 80 100 62 100 44 100 256 100
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A review of the 256 complaint files which were closed between January 2000 and December 31, 2003 confirms the

pattern observed in previous years.  Two-thirds (174) of the 256 closed files were not proceeded on for reasons of

insufficient evidence, procedural i ssues or the complainant withdrawing the complaint and the Inquiry Committee

deciding that there were no public protection concerns warranting proceeding on the complaint on their own motion.

Of the remaining files, 27% were resolved with letters of undertaking, including 11% resolved without need for a formal

agreeme nt.  An examp le of the latter is when a registrant has already made changes to their practice resulting from the

complaint investigation and documents such changes to the committee prior as part of a resolution dialogue.  See Tables

17 and 1 8 and Figu re 3. 

Figure 3:  Means of complaint resolution

The figure above illustrates the very small proportion of complaints in which the outcome involved resignation of

registration by the respondent.  Of the roughly 1/3 of complaints not dismissed or otherwise not proceeded upon, the

vast majority are resolv ed through discussion of the issues and an agreement on the terms to resolve the matters of

concern. 

Comp laints have been processed under the current complaint tracking process since January 2000.  The summary  tables

and charts in this Annual R eport provide details in terms of the substance of common complaints and the typical

consequences and mean s of resolution  for comp laints.  This is usefu l information which may alleviate concerns of

registrants  who receive a complaint for the first time.  As the data suggests, whenever possible, complaints are resolved

through a formal or in formal agre ement betw een the registra nt and the C ollege.  W here the Inquiry C ommittee has

significant conc erns abou t protecting the  public interes t, it is sometimes ne cessary to pr oceed fur ther. 

To date, only 14  complain ts which were n ot dismissed because of insufficient evidence or not proceeded upon for

procedural reasons have involved the resignation of a registrant.  For example, in two instances, accounting for 7 files,

registrants  decided to resign completely from the practice of psychology rather than agree to practice supervision or

other limitations on the ir license.  In ano ther instance, a re gistrant with two complaint files agreed to cancellation of

his registration for a period of at least five years.   A further five files, related to two different registrants with one and

four complaints respectively, have been referred to the Registration Committee as neither respondent is currently on

the register.  Should these former registrants decide to reapply for registration, the complaint matters would need to be

addressed as part of the re application  process.  All other complaints have been resolved through agreement between

the registrant and the Inquiry Committee.
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5.  Other Components of the Complaint Investigation Process

There are several other special components of the complaint investigation process described below, including without

prejudice meetings, extraordinary hearings, and citations and discipline hearings

a. Without Prejudice Meetings

Without prejudice meetings provide a unique opportunity for attempting to resolve complaint matters.  The term

“without prejudice” is used to indicate that nothing that occurs in a without prejudice meeting or correspondence may

be used in any other context.  If a registrant, for example, comes to such a meeting and acknowledged that he or she

“made a mistake”, this  admission cannot be used by the College as a means of obtaining agreement on a letter of

undertaking or for any other purpose .  During the yea r four without p rejudice m eetings were h eld with  registran ts in

the attempt to  informally reso lve a total of six  complaints.  Out of these  complaints, three were later resolved on the

basis of these m eetings.  

One meeting was with regard to resolution of a complaint involving issues of informed consent, inadequate risk

assessment and history-taking; one was a d ifficult case involving allegations of being a “hired gun”; one was with an

individual with a large number of complaint files and the attempt was made by the College to avoid a hearing; one was

to reach resolution and understanding with a registrant who provided therapy to a very disturbed personality -disordered

client who had com plained about bo undary violations.  Of the four, three were successful in bringing matters to closure.

b.  Extraordinary Hearings

No extra ordinary he arings were h eld in 200 3.  This pre ventive mea sure enable s the Inquiry C ommittee to  act swiftly

when issues arise of sufficient public protection concern that the Committee believes a restriction on practice may be

warranted.  There is no testing of evidence at an extraor dinary hearin g - but a decisio n is made o n whether the a vailable

evidence supports  action by the Inquiry Committee. A discipline hearing is the equivalent of a full trial on all issues and

a finding of fact is made at the end of the hearing.

c.  Discipline Hearings & Citations

No discipline co mmittee hea rings were he ld in 2003 .  This is the fourth year in a row that matters for which a citation

had been issued or which were serious enough to warrant a citation for a hearing have been successfully resolved

without nece ssitating this costly legal ste p. 

As of December 31, 2003, the Inquiry Committee had moved to issue a citation on 8 files (2 respondents with 7

complain ts and 1 co mplaint,  respectively).  By December 31, 2003, one respondent signed an undertaking, avoiding

a costly hearing . 

6.  Letters of Undertaking

As at December 31, 2003 a total of 20 letters of undertaking were either in preparation, were under review by the

respondent or had been signed to resolve a complaint.  Seven different letters of undertaking were signed during the

year to resolv e a total of seve n compla ints.  

To follow is a summary of the issues addressed in this voluntary means of complaint resolution:

   C As a means of addressing issues arising from criminal conviction related to physical assault, the registrant agreed

to complete  six sessions of sup ervision to  determine whether or not the issues that led to the conviction are a matter

of public p rotection co ncern and  fitness to practice .   
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   C As a means of addressing concerns regarding a custody and access report, the registrant agreed to docum ent all

efforts, successful and unsuccessful, to obtain relevant records and contact collaterals, and to document any

limitations on opinions or recom mendations.

   

   C To resolve a complaint in which concerns c entred aro und makin g a diagno sis without having  contact,  to comp ly with

sections 3.1 4, 3.17, 1 1.26, 11 .27, and 1 1.40 of the  Code o f Conduc t.

   

   C To resolve serious matters related  to assertions o f sexual abuse  without cond ucting an asses sment,  and other issues

related to competence in conducting assessments, the registrant agreed “to not provide any psychological services

of any kind including diagnosis, assessment, opinion, comment or therapy, to any person concerning issues related

to allegations of sexual abuse or to any person who has made allegations of sexual abuse or to any perso n against

whom such allegations have been made, or to someone who has been convicted of a sexual offense”.  In the event

that the respondent wished these restrictions to be lifted, other conditions would apply including a period of directed

learning, assessment of competence in this area and supervision of any cases in this area; and supervision for one

calendar year of all and any psych ological services.

   C To avoid a hearing on allegations of sexual misconduct, the registrant agreed to pay a fine of $3,000.00, to provide

evidence of steps taken to prevent recurrence of misconduct, to undergo assessment of fitness to practice, three

month suspension and to have his practice supervised.

   C Two other complaint files belonging to one registrant were formally closed during 2003, although the undertaking

had been underway for some time.  The concerns addresse d in the unde rtaking had to  do with competence around

treatment of severe persona lity disorders and bound ary issues.

   C Public Interest versus Privacy Concerns

Many undertakings now include a clause which terminates the undertaking at the point at which the Inquiry

Committee is satisfied that the terms of the agreement have been met.  The pu rpose of su ch agreem ents is

improvement in pra ctice and resolution of conce rns.

The College is cle ar about o ur respons ibility to provide in formation re garding pu blic safety and th e public  interest.

When necessary and where there are restrictions on practice, such information is conveyed to the public in an

approp riate manne r.  

7.  Comp laint Correspond ence Sum mary

As shown in Table 19, the complaint tracking pro cess in 200 3 generate d almost 1 ,000 letters fro m the Colle ge to

complainants and registrants.  This does not reflect the hours required to receive and log the hundreds of letters  and

docum ents received  on comp laint matters.  

The objective of keeping complainants and respondents informed about the status of complaints accounts for almost

half of all corres ponden ce. 
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Table 19:   Complaint Correspondence

Type of Correspondence # of letters -2002 # of letters - 2003

Complaint Acknowledgment 54 44

Respondent Notification 54 44

Comp laint Packag e Reque sts 86 81

Ongoing Complaint File Correspondence 430 411

Clinical File Request 41 1

Letters Written Under Section 33(5) of the Health

Professions Act

35 31

Withou t Prejudic e Meetin g Reque sts 14 20

Correspondence Regarding Letters of Undertaking 20 26

Decision  Reports 27 31

Decision Report Correspondence 47 79

Appeal Correspondence 20 75

Miscellaneous Complaint Correspondence 40 51

Title Issue Correspondence 32 29

Supervisio n Agreem ents 5 6

Supervision Correspondence 5 35

TOTAL 907 984

8. Comp laints per Year and  Number of Registran ts with Com plaints

As discussed in last year’s Annual Report, it is a  common misconception is that the College receives complaints on

only a  small number of practitioners. The tables and figures in this section identify the number of registrants about

whom complaints were received, when a registrant was specified in the complaint.  Some amendments and corrections

to the data re ported he re last year have  been mad e for the purp oses of this table .  
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Table 20: # of Complaints per year from 1993 - 2003 and # Registrants with Complaints

Year # of Complaints Corrected (# with na med registrant)          # Registrants

1993 31 30 21

1994 26 26 22

1995 44 44 35

1996 38 38 30

1997 45 45 39

1998 47 47 32

1999 55 53 37

2000 64 64 48

2001 60 59 42

2002 54 54 38

2003 53 53 42

Total 517 513 208*

* this figure is not a column total, as some registrants appear in m ultiple years.

It was decid ed to only  include information from 1993 forward as it was on January 1, 1993 that the College began the

sole responsibility of regulating the profession.  There are some slight differences from the numbers previously reported

because of this, in addition  to the inclusion o f data for 20 03.  The corrected numbers in the table above show the actual

number of complaints with a specific registrant named  as the respondent.  The corrected numbers show four fewer

complain ts: two comp laints had to d o with an app licant, and two  complain ts did not hav e a respon dent.

Figure 4: Com plaints by Year an d Num ber of Registran ts with Com plaints
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Table 21:  Number of Complaints Per Registrant

# of Complaints # of Current  Registrants # of Former Reg istrants # of Total Registrants

1 112 10 122

2 32 6 38

3 10 1 11

4 11 2 13

5 7 1 8

6 4 4

7 3 3

8 1 1

10 3 3

11 2 2

12 1 1

14 1 1

20 1 1

39 1 1

Total 188 21 209

As shown in  Table 21,  209 registrants (all but 21 of whom were on the register of the College on December 31, 200 3),

have had at least one complaint.  For current registrants, this means that 188/984 (19% of registrants) have had at least

one com plaint.

Figure 5:   Com plaints per Reg istrant (Current and Former)
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9. Investigation of Title Issue Violations under the Psychologists Regulation

The College is investigating an increasing number of title issues, the purpose being to inform practitioners about

approp riate use of title as well as to enforce the provisions of the Psychologists Regulation under the Health Professions

Act.  A typical example of a title issue investigation is as follows. An individual writes a letter to the College requesting

information on registration  in B.C.  The stationary used and /or the signature shows the name of the practitioner as

follows, Sam Br own, M .A. (Psych.)   T his is a violation o f the Psycholo gists Regulation under the Health Professions

Act.  The College sends a letter explaining that this is a violation and requests corrective action.  In other instances, the

violation is more serious, such as a nonreg istrant placing a n advertisem ent identifying him  or herself as a  p sychologist.

In such instances, the College sends a letter which approp riately conveys the seriousness of the matter and the

consequences of a possible court proceeding if  corrective action is not taken.  The College initiated one such action

during 2003.  The matter was settled in early 2004 with a clear decision in favour of the College.

There are an increasing number o f such matters which arise in the course of applications, especially with the

extraordin ary period  of applicatio n where ma ny of the app licants have b een practic ing in the field for m any years.   

These  matters must be investigated according to the same principles of administrative law which govern complaint

investigations.  However, they are viewed as matters related to fitness to practice, rather than as complaints, given that

they relate to applicants, not registrants.  The Registration Committee has jurisdiction over these matters while the 

Inquiry Comm ittee investigates co mplaints ab out registrants.  There is some overlap when an investigation commences

regarding a registrant who later resigns.

IV.  ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS

1. The College Office

The resource demands created by changes to the registration process necessitated an increase in staff, a step all the more

necessary with the Registration Committee’s decision to extend an extraordinary period of application for practitioners

of psychology previously ineligible for registration with the College.   W e were plea sed with chan ges to the renewal

process which has be en streamline d.  We  continue to do an increasing pro portion of our printing and c opying in-house

in order to reduce p rinting costs.

2. The College  Webs ite

The website con tinues to grow  in usefulness as a m eans of com municating w ith both app licants and registran ts as well

as with the public.  Applicants and registrants are e ncourage d to check  the website fro m time to  time for updates and

new postings.  W e have track ed a mod est reduction  in phone call inquiries from  applicants sin ce the webs ite came into

full use.

3. Ombudsman Investigations

Dialogue with the Ombudsman’s office continued through 2003.  One issue centred on the matter of confidentiality of

complaint files.  The Ombudsman’s office has authority, under the Ombudsman’s Act, to request any and all files of

the College.  In respons e to a reque st for multiple  complaint files, we raised the issue of confidentiality of the files and

the fact that the files containe d not only  the names of the respond ent psychologists but also that of clients, collaterals,

etc.  There wa s much disc ussion on this to pic, including  their suggestio n that we black o ut the names o n the files, a

process which would  have taken a pproxim ately two weeks of staff time and which, in our view, would have rendered

the files themselves incomprehensible.  In the end  the Ombudsm an’s office dropped their req uest for the files.

There were two matters investigated by the office of the Ombudsman in 2003 and both were closed without any

findings.  Another matter which was initiated in 2002 and which continued for much of 2003 was closed by the

Ombudsm an’s office with no findings.  The College is ob liged to respond to these m atters, which consumes 
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considera ble time and resources.  There is no statute of limitations on these investigations and at times, it is necessary

to revisit files that have been closed for a considerable amount of time and long after the membership of the inquiry

committee  haschange d. 

4. Requests under the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act

Ten requests for information under the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act were received in 2003.

The process of responding to such requests  is very time consuming.  Typically the College releases documents for which

there are no confidentiality or privacy concerns to the applicant under the Act,  and refuses disclo sure on do cuments in

which such concerns pertain.  In doing so we are required to review each and every document on a line by line basis

and cite sections of the Act to justify a decision to disclose or refuse disclosure.  In most cases, the applicant then

challenges the College on the decision and a period of negotiation ensues between the Registrar and the Freedom of

Information officer assigned to the case.  Most applicants are former complainants dissatisfied with the decision of the

Inquiry Committee, who reviewed the complaint, and with the Board which heard the appeal.  When a negotiated

settlement is not possible, the matter may be taken by the applicant to “Inquiry”.  At this stage the matter becomes quite

costly as we must make a formal submission explicitly outlining the College’s position.  This must be accomplished

within the time frames established by the Act.  The College’s decisions in these  matters are guided by a commitment

to safeguard the confidential nature of neg otiated settlements with registrants on complaint ma tters.

5. The Health Professions Act (HPA) and College Bylaws

Major efforts continued in terms of submissions to government with regard to a series of proposed amendments to the

Health  Professions Act.  The Co llege was plea sed with the success of its submissions and their impact on government

decision-making.  Of particular note is the contribution that our submissions made to the differentiation of complaint

allegations made by the complainant, and matters which may end up being the subject of an Inquiry Committee

investigation.  For example, a complainant may allege that a psychologist was biased in the conduct o f an assessmen t.

As the Inquiry Committee investigated this allegation, they became aware that the psychologist had been using an

incorrect scoring protocol for a particular test.  W hen the investiga tion is conclud ed  is the comp lainant autom atically

entitled to know about the committee’s additional concerns, or only entitled to know the outcome of the investigation

of their specific allegations?  Our submission suggested the latter, and this is reflected in the pending changes to the

Health Professions Act. Another important contribution was our successful argument to ensure that letters of

undertaking are not,  by law, required to be on the public record.  Further, documents such as undertakings, which

successfully  bring complaints to resolution, may not be used in other legal proceed ings.  For exa mple, if a registrant

apologiz es to a com plainant, this ap ology can n ot be used  in civil litigation against the  registrant.

In its submissions, the  College m ade significan t efforts directe d at protecting  information n ot related to p ublic

protection.  The first draft of the proposed revisions to the Act included a provision  whereby all un dertakings w ould

need to be published on the register of the College.  Largely in response to our submission, this was amended.  I n

addition, our submission with regard to the nature of the information to which the complainant is entitled at the end of

a complaint investigation was also successful and the revised Act will clearly differentiate information to which the

complainant is and is not entitled.

The new Health Professions Amendment Act, by which changes to the Health P rofessions A ct are and will be enacted,

is posted on the College website.
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Our Office Assistant, Avigail Cohen is a key co ntributor to o ur ability to maste r an often ov erwhelming  workload . 

Appreciation is also due to our part-time contract staff: our bookkeeper, Kalia Zalel, and our database clerk, Yaniv

Kedar.  Anthony Tobin continues to provide perceptive, intelligent and thoughtful advice and consultation to the

decisions re ported thro ughout this do cument.

On behalf of the staff, appreciation to the hardworking and thoughtful members of the College committees and the

Board. My personal thanks to the supportive and ever-caring Henry Harder, Board Chair. Working with Henry over

the past year has b een a pro ductive and  enjoyable  experienc e. The B oard of th e College is extremely supportive,

constructive and visionary.  It has been a pleasure to work with them over the past year.

Respectfully submitted,

Andrea Kowaz, Ph.D., R.Psych.

Registrar

Minutes of the May 15, 2003 Information Meeting

An Annual General Meeting was scheduled for May 15, 2003 at the Arbutus Club in Vancouver. The meeting was

called to order by the Chair, Henry Harder , at 5:40 p.m ., with 61 registra nts in attendance.  In the absence of a quorum,

the Annual G eneral M eeting was ad journed  and the me eting was con tinued as an info rmation me eting.  The members

of the Bo ard were intro duced.  R egrets were e xtended fro m Mich ael Elterma n, Micha el Joschko  and Ran a Dhatt.

Agenda for the May 15, 2003 Mee ting - It was moved by Richard Dopson and seconded by Rhona Steinberg that the

agenda for the May 15, 2003 meeting be adopted as circulated.  Carried.

Minutes of the November 29, 2002 M eeting - It was moved by Larry Waterman and seconded b y Justin O’Mahony that

the Minute s of the Nov ember 2 9, 2002  meeting be  adopted  as circulated.  C arried. 

Report from the Ch air: Robe rt Colby, Ch air of the Board for 2002, gave an overview of the work completed by the

Board during 2002 in retooling the profession.  He extended his thanks to members of the B oard, staff and committees.

Report from the Registrar: An drea Ko waz introdu ced mem bers of the staff in atte ndance.  R egistrants were referre d to

her written rep ort in the Annu al Repor t for informatio n about the w orking of the C ollege durin g the year 20 02.  

Report from the Inquiry Committee: Larry Waterman and Barbara P assmore thanked the staff, College counsel and the

committee for their work during the past year and reported on the activities of the Inquiry Committee.  Questions from

registrants  included whether it was the intent of the College to become more  transparent about the inquiry process and

the method used to appoint committee members.  The College will include information on the appointment of committee

members in its next Chronicle.

Report from the Quality Assurance Committee: Emily Goetz introduced  committee members present at the meeting.

A review of the projects undertaken was discussed.  Registrants responded to the recent mailout of the continuing

competency program under development by the Quality Assurance Committee.

Report from the Registratio n Comm ittee: Henry H arder thank ed staff, College Counsel and committee members, and

referred registrants  to the annual report for details of the deve lopments to the registration proce ss.  Registrants requested

information on applications during the extraordinary registration period.

Report from the Finance Committee: Derek Swain referred registrants to the audited financial statements and the report

of the Finance Com mittee contained in the Annual R eport.  He respo nded to questions from  registrants.

The meeting adjourned at 7:16 p.m.
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AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Members of

College  of Psych ologists of  British C olumbia

We have a udited th e stateme nt of finan cial position  of the C ollege of P sycholo gists of British Columbia as at

December 31, 2003 and the statements of changes in net assets, operations and cash flows for the year then

ended.  These fina ncial state ments ar e the resp onsibility o f the Co llege's management.  Ou r responsibility is to

express an opinion on these financial statements based on ou r audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards

require that w e plan an d perfor m an au dit to obta in reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are

free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts

and disclosure s in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and

significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the

College as at December 31, 2003 and the results of its operations and the changes in its net assets for the year

then ended in  accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles applied on a basis consistent

with th at of the p receding  year.  

_________________________

      Chartered Accoun tants

Vanc ouver, B ritish Colu mbia

March 31, 2004
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COLLEGE OF PSYCHOLOGISTS OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2003

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
   Cash
   Prepaid expenses

CAPITAL ASSETS (Note 2)

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES
   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
   Employee remittances payable
   PST payable
   Deferred revenue (Note 3)

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL ASSETS

UNRESTRICTED

2003
$

     1,310,866
          16,226
     1,327,092

          64,748

     1,391,840

        121,099
          11,320
                   -
     1,022,850
     1,155,269

          64,748

        171,823
        236,571

     1,391,840

2002
$

      607,647
          4,539
      612,186

        79,991

      692,177

        98,330
          7,755
               47
      413,900
      520,032

        79,991

        92,154
      172,145

      692,177

Approved by the Board

         “Signed”  Henry Harder              , Director

         “Signed” Derek A. Swain            , Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COLLEGE OF PSYCHOLOGISTS OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

NET ASSETS, beginning of year

Excess of Receipts over Expenditures

NET ASSETS, end of the year

Invested
in Capital

          Assets  
2003

$

79,991

(15,243)

64,748

Unrestricted
2003

$

92,154

79,669

      171,823

Total
2003

$

172,145

  64,426

236,571

Total
2002

$

149,580

  22,565

172,145

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COLLEGE OF PSYCHOLOGISTS OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

RECEIPTS
      Membership dues
      Application and exam fees
      Interest
      Other

EXPENDITURES
      Administration
      Audit
      Board
      Committees (meetings, travel  and honorarium)
      External relations (dues)
      Discipline Committee Hearings
      Extraordinary Hearings
      Operations
      Registrant / Applicant services
      Statutory functions

EXCESS OF RECEIPTS OVER EXPENDITURES

2003
$

1,060,092
        124,175
          20,980
            5,307
     1,210,554

        540,762
            4,654
          85,207
          45,822
            7,059
                   -
            6,859
        137,141
          17,380
        301,244
     1,146,128

          64,426

2002
$

1,056,324
          51,450 
          15,687
            6,008
     1,129,469

        528,532
            4,039
          68,620
          38,072
            7,290
                   -
          33,260
        124,975
          23,988
        278,128
     1,106,904

          22,565

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COLLEGE OF PSYCHOLOGISTS OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Excess of receipts over expenditures
    Adjustments for:
        Amortization
        Accounts receivable
        Prepaid expenses
        Accounts payable
        Employee remittances payable
        PST payable
        Deferred revenue

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of capital assets

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH

CASH, beginning of year

CASH, end of year

2003
$

          64,426

          19,995
                   -      
         (11,687)
           22,769
             3,565
                (47)
         608,950
         707,971

            (4,752)

         703,219

         607,647

      1,310,866

2002
$

        22,565

        14,989
          3,679
          5,230
        58,392
            (368)
            (183)
      356,425
      460,729

       (65,306)

      395,423

      212,224

      607,647

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COLLEGE OF PSYCHOLOGISTS OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2003

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Capital assets

Purchased capital assets are recorded at cost.  Contributed capital assets are recorded at fair
value at the date of contribution.  Amortization is provided on a declining balance basis at
the following rates:

   Office furniture and equipment  -   20% declining balance
   Computer equipment and software   -   30% declining balance
   Leasehold improvements     -     5 years straight line

In the year of acquisition, only one-half of the normal amortization is recorded.

Amortization expense is reported in the Capital Asset Fund.

Revenue and Expense recognition

Membership dues are recognized as income in the fiscal year due.  Expenditures are
recognized as incurred.  

2. CAPITAL ASSETS

2003 2002

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book
Value

Net Book
Value

$ $ $ $

Office furniture and equipment 80,528 53,970 26,558 31604
Computer equipment 76739 62,492 14,247 16303
Leasehold Improvements   4070   16,763 23,943 32,084

197,973 133,225 64,748 79,991

3. DEFERRED REVENUE

Deferred revenue represents membership fees for the 2004 calendar year received in
advance.


